No. 44137-3-II

THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

In re the Detention of:

MORGAN HEATH,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KITSAP COUNTY

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

GREGORY C. LINK Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

As a 14-year-old boy, Mr. Heath was convicted of a rape of a child. 10/8/12 RP 120-22. Mr. Heath served his term of confinement in the Juvenile Rehabilitation Administration (JRA) and was released. Mr. Heath was subsequently charged with several offenses involving two 13-year-old girls. 10/9/12 RP 231. Those charges ultimately resulted in guilty pleas to misdemeanors.

The State, however, filed a petition seeking Mr. Heath's confinement under RCW 71.09. CP 1-3. The petition alleged the offense committed when Mr. Heath was 14 constituted the predicate crime and the more recent misdemeanor charges were the recent overt act required by RCW 71.09.060(1).

The State offered the testimony of Dr. Amy Phenix who opined that Mr. Heath suffers from a mental abnormality (pedophilia) and a personality disorder (antisocial personality disorder) which makes it difficult for him to control his sexually violent behavior. 10/9/12 RP 279-81.

A jury determined the State proved the requirements RCW 71.09.020(18) and RCW 71.09.060. CP 898.

D. ARGUMENT

- 1. Repeated instances of juror misconduct denied Mr. Heath a fair trial.
 - a. Several jurors disregarded the court's instruction and engaged in other acts of misconduct.

At the outset of trial, the court instructed the jury "it's your duty to decide the facts in this case based upon the evidence produced here in this courtroom." 10/8/12 RP 113. The court also instructed the jury that

[w]hen all the evidence has been presented to you, I will instruct you on what the law is that applies to this case. . . . At that time you will be taken to the jury room You will then deliberate in order to reach a decision, which is called a verdict. Until you are in the jury room for these deliberations, you must not discuss this case with other jurors or with anyone else

Id. at 115-16.

Despite the court's explicit instructions, on the very first day of trial, at least one juror, Juror 11, looked up Mr. Heath's custody status on a Kitsap County website. 10/10/12 RP 345 Again in spite of the court's instructions, that juror shared what she learned with at least one other juror, Juror 8. That conversation was overheard by a third juror, Juror 9, who shared what she had heard with the court.

When directly questioned by the court, Jurors 8 and 11 initially lied about their activities. The following exchanges occurred:

The Court: Good morning. I have a couple of questions to ask you.

Yesterday after the jury was excused at 4:20, did you hear any discussions in the jury room about the defendant or the respondent, Morgan Heath?

Juror No. 11: No I did not.

The Court: Did you hear anybody discuss any information obtained from the internet.

Juror No 11: No I did not.

10/12/12 RP 326-27. The Court also questioned Juror 8:

The Court: Good morning. Please be seated.

I have two questions to ask you. Yesterday after the jury was excused at 4:20, did you hear any discussion about Morgan Heath in the jury room?

Juror No. 8: No.

The Court: Did you hear any information obtained by a juror on the internet?

Juror No. 8: No.

10/12/12 RP 328.

When each of the remaining jurors also answered "no" to each of the court's questions, defense counsel remarked "someone is not telling the truth." 10/12/12 RP 334. The Court responded "I know." *Id.* But, the court recognized there was no reason to doubt the credibility of Juror 9's report. *Id.* at 344.

Defense counsel noted the Juror 13 revealed jurors had commented on the testimony of the state's witness, Amy Phenix. 10/12/13 RP 332. Defense counsel argued that such discussion of witnesses or their testimony prior to deliberations was a further violation of the court's instructions. 10/12/12 RP 338.

The court then called jurors 8 and 11 back to the courtroom to question them further. After several follow-up questions, Juror 11 reluctantly acknowledged she had found Mr. Heath's custody status on line and that she shared that information with other jurors including Juror 8. 10/12/12 RP 345. Juror 8 denied having heard that information. 10/12/12 RP 348. Juror 8 did share that another member of the jury was

"wondering . . . whether he was incarcerated" and that another juror had responded to that inquiry. *Id*.

Juror 13 was also questioned further and explained that she overheard jurors offer comments on how articulate Dr. Phenix was during her testimony. 10/10/12 RP 355. Juror 13 explained "It was just praise nothing about the case." *Id*.

Despite all these revelations, the trial court refused question jury members regarding their discussion of the witness and denied Mr. Heath's motion for a mistrial. 10/10/12 RP 353, 361-62.

The right to be tried by an impartial jury is fundamental to the fairness of the trial and explicitly protected by the Sixth Amendment and Washington Constitution. U.S. Const. amend. VI; Const. Art. I, §§ 21, 22. The right of trial by jury "means a trial by an unbiased and unprejudiced jury, free of disqualifying jury misconduct." *State v. Tigano*, 63 Wn. App. 336, 341, 818 P.2d 1369 (1991) (quoting *Robinson v. Safeway Stores, Inc.*, 113 Wn.2d 154, 159, 776 P.2d 676 (1989). The Supreme Court has interpreted the statutory guarantee of a jury verdict based upon proof beyond a reasonable doubt provided by RCW 71.09.060 to mirror the jury guarantees afforded in criminal trials. *In re Detention of Young*, 122 Wn.2d 1, 48, 857 P.2d 396 (1995).

A juror's misrepresentations in response to questions posed to them by the court of parties are misconduct. *Robinson*, 113 Wn.2d at 159. A jury commits misconduct when it considers extrinsic evidence. *State v. Balisok*, 123 Wn.2d 114, 118, 866 P.2d 631 (1994) (quoting *Richards v. Overlake Hosp. Med. Ctr.*, 59 Wn. App. 266, 270, 796 P.2d 737 (1990)). That is especially true where the court's instructions expressly prohibit that. *Tigano*, 63 Wn. App. at 341.

Here Juror 11 first gathered additional evidence, and then she shared that information with other jurors. When it was brought to the court's attention, jurors lied about their actions in response to direct questioning by the court. Jurors also ignored the court's instruction not to discuss the case or evidence until they began deliberations. Jurors expressed their praise for the state's hired expert, not only before deliberations, but before Mr. Heath had even been allowed to conduct cross-examination. Each of these acts constitutes misconduct.

The State allowed "we have jurors that have not strictly followed the court's order." 10/12/12 RP 351. This is not a case in which jurors skirted ambiguous lines. The court instructed them not to discuss the case and yet they did. The court instructed them not to

gather any outside evidence and yet they did. And then when directly questioned about their actions they lied. That is misconduct.

b. The misconduct of several jurors entitles Mr. Heath to a new trial.

Jury misconduct is presumed prejudicial. *State v. Boling*, 131 Wn. App. 329, 333, 127 P.3d 740 (2006). To overcome that presumption the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the misconduct, objectively viewed, could not have affected the jury's verdict. *Id.* (citing *State v. Caliguri*, 99 Wn.2d 501, 509, 664 P.2d 466 (1983)). Any doubt about whether the misconduct could have affected the verdict must be resolved against the verdict. *Halverson v. Anderson*, 82 Wn.2d 746, 752, 513 P.2d 827 (1973).

Here the State made no effort to show the misconduct could not have affected the jury's verdict. The court seemed unaware of the standard, saying simply that it didn't believe the misconduct reached the level of a mistrial. 10/12/12 RP 334. Rather than determine whether the State had overcome the presumption, the court instead seems to have been measuring the severity of the misconduct. That, however, is not the standard. If there was misconduct, and the court found there was, reversal is required unless the State demonstrates beyond a

reasonable doubt that misconduct could not have influenced the verdict.

The State never undertook that burden, and there is nothing that would support such a conclusion in any event. Mr. Heath is entitled to a new trial.

2. Mr. Heath was denied his right to a unanimous jury.

a. <u>Jury unanimity is required when the State alleges</u> <u>alternative means support commitment</u>.

Based on principles of due process as well as the state constitutional right to a unanimous jury trial, a defendant in a criminal case has a constitutional right to a conviction only by a jury which unanimously agrees that the crime charged has been committed beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Kitchen*, 110 Wn.2d 403, 409, 756 P.2d 105 (1988); U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Const. art 1, § 22. Likewise, involuntary detention in RCW 71.09 proceedings is governed by the due process protections that apply in a criminal proceeding. *Young*, 122 Wn.2d at 48. Specifically, RCW 71.09.060(1) requires a jury unanimously conclude the State has proved each element necessary for commitment beyond a reasonable doubt.

In re the Detention of Halgren, 156 Wn.2d 795, 132 P.3d 714 (2006), the Court concluded the unanimity requirements announced in

State v. Petrich, 101 Wn.2d 566, 683 P.2d 173 (1984), apply to RCW 71.09 proceedings. The Court said "[g]iven that the ultimate due process concern is in ensuring that the jury unanimously agrees on the basis for confinement, we hold that unanimity rules are applicable in SVP cases." *Halgren*, 156 Wn.2d at 720.

Petrich requires that where the State alleges a defendant has committed multiple acts, each of which could independently establish the charge, either the prosecutor must elect which act it is relying on or the jury must be instructed they must unanimously rely on a single act in assessing the defendant's guilt. Petrich, 101 Wn.2d at 572. When the State alleges a defendant has committed a crime by alternative means, the right to a unanimous jury is offended unless the State elects the means upon which it is relying or the jury is instructed that it must unanimously agree on a single means. Kitchen, 110 Wn.2d at 409 (citing Petrich, 101 Wn.2d at 569). Where neither of these options is met, reversal is required unless the evidence supporting each alternative is sufficient to the support the conviction. State v. Ortega–Martinez, 124 Wn.2d 702, 707–08, 881 P.2d 231 (1994); Halgren, 156 Wn.2d at 809. The Court cautioned:

We strongly urge counsel and trial courts to heed our notice that an instruction regarding jury unanimity on the alternative method is preferable.

Ortega-Martinez, 124 Wn.2d at 717 n.2 (citing State v. Whitney, 108 Wn.2d 506, 511, 739 P.2d 1150 (1987)).

b. Although the State alleged alternative means for commitment, the court did not instruct the jury on the need for unanimity.

The court instructed the jury that to commit Mr. Heath it had to find:

That Morgan Heath suffers from a mental abnormality or personality disorder which causes serious difficulty in controlling his sexually violent behavior.

CP 877 (Instruction 4). *Halgren* held "mental abnormality' and 'personality disorder' are alternative means for making the SVP determination." 156 Wn. 2d at 810.

Despite the plain holding of *Halgren* and the Court's cautionary statement in *Ortega-Martinez*, in this case, the State contended "as to the *Petrich* instruction that was requested, I had indicated that there was a case that provides that's inappropriate in [71.09] cases, and I was able to determine that was *In re the Detention of Halgren*. . . . " 10/15/12 RP 653. As is clear, that is not the holding of *Halgren*. Instead, *Halgren* recognized the applicability of unanimity rules but concluded the failure to provide a unanimity instruction did not require reversal as

there was sufficient evidence to permit a jury to find either alternative means beyond a reasonable doubt. 156 Wn.2d at 811(citing *Kitchen*, 110 Wn.2d at 410-11.) The same is not true here.

c. Because the State did not offer sufficient evidence to support each alternative means, Mr. Heath's commitment must be reversed.

When asked what impact Mr. Heath's personality disorder had, Dr. Phenix opined "I think they contribute" to his behavior. 10/9/12 RP 281. But that is not enough. Instead, there must be sufficient evidence to permit a juror to conclude the personality disorders, by themselves, make Mr. Heath more likely than not to reoffend. The State offered no evidence that would support such finding by the jury. As such, there is insufficient evidence to support at least one alternative means alleged — that his personality disorders make Mr. Heath likely to commit new sexually violent offenses. In the absence of sufficient evidence, Mr. Heath's commitment must be reversed. *Ortega–Martinez*, 124 Wn.2d at 707–08; *Halgren*, 156 Wn.2d at 809.

E. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

The jury's misconduct deprived Mr. Heath of a fair trial. Further, the failure to ensure the unanimity of the jury's verdict requires a new trial.

Respectfully submitted this 4th day of June, 2013.

GREGORY C. LINK – 25228

Washington Appellate Project – 91072

Attorneys for Petitioner

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

IN RE THE DETENTION OF MORGAN HEATH,)))	NO.	NO. 44137-3-II		
APPELLANT.	APPELLANT.)				
DECLARATION OF DOCU	JMENT FIL	ING AI	ND SERVICE		
, MARIA ARRANZA RILEY, DECLARE THA HE ORIGINAL <u>OPENING BRIEF OF A</u> APPEALS – DIVISION ONE AND A TRU OLLOWING IN THE MANNER INDICATED	APPELLANT JE COPY OF	TO BE	FILED IN THE COURT OF		
[X] TRICIA BOERGER, AAG [triciab1@atg.wa.gov] OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GEN 800 FIFTH AVENUE, SUITE 2000 SEATTLE, WA 98104-3188		. ,	U.S. MAIL HAND DELIVERY		
[X] MORGAN HEATH SPECIAL COMMITMENT CENTER PO BOX 88600 STEILACOOM, WA 98388		(X) () ()	U.S. MAIL HAND DELIVERY		
SIGNED IN SEATTLE, WASHINGTON THIS	5 4 TH DAY OF	JUNE,	2013.		
x_ fry					

Washington Appellate Project 701 Melbourne Tower 1511 Third Avenue Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT

June 04, 2013 - 3:59 PM

Transmittal Letter

Document Uploaded:	4413/3-Appellant's Brief.pdf
Case Name:	DETENTION OF MORGAN HEATH

Court of Appeals Case Number: 44137-3

Is t

The

this a	a Personal Restraint Petition?	Yes		No
docı	ument being Filed is:			
	Designation of Clerk's Papers	Suppler	nen	ntal Designation of Clerk's Papers
	Statement of Arrangements			
	Motion:			
	Answer/Reply to Motion:			
	Brief: <u>Appellant's</u>			
	Statement of Additional Authorities			
	Cost Bill			
	Objection to Cost Bill			
	Affidavit			
	Letter			
	Copy of Verbatim Report of Proceedir Hearing Date(s):	ngs - No.	of ∖	Volumes:
	Personal Restraint Petition (PRP)			
	Response to Personal Restraint Petition	on		
	Reply to Response to Personal Restra	int Petiti	on	
	Petition for Review (PRV)			
	Other:			
Com	ments:			
No C	Comments were entered.			
Send	ler Name: Maria A Riley - Email: mari	a@wash	арр	p.org
qoɔ /	y of this document has been emailed t	o the foll	owii	ing addresses:
	10-1			

triciab1@atg.wa.gov