NO. 44137-3

---

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON**

---

In re the Detention of:

MORGAN HEATH,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

---

**RESPONDENT'S OPENING BRIEF**

---

ROBERT W. FERGUSON  
Attorney General

SARAH B. SAPPINGTON  
Senior Counsel  
WSBA #14514  
Criminal Justice Division  
800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000  
Seattle, WA 98104  
(206) 389-2019  
OID# 91094

**

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

### III. ARGUMENT

On appeal, Heath raises two issues. First, he argues that he is entitled to a new trial based on juror misconduct when jurors "discussed" "extrinsic evidence" one of the jurors had "researched" on the Internet, and then "lied"

---

<sup>2</sup> The Special Commitment Center (SCC) is a secure, DSHS-run facility for the care and treatment of persons detained pursuant to the sexually violent predator act.

to the court when questioned. Second, he argues that he was entitled to a unanimity instruction that would have required the jury to determine whether, based on a personality disorder alone, Heath was likely to reoffend. Neither argument has merit. First, there was no juror misconduct where a juror innocently came upon information already repeatedly disclosed at trial, and then mentioned that fact to another juror. Second, no unanimity instruction is required where commitment is based on both a mental abnormality and personality disorder, and there is sufficient evidence to support each, and there is no requirement that the jury determine whether, standing alone, the personality disorder makes the person likely to reoffend. This Court should affirm Heath's commitment.

**A. The Trial Court Properly Denied Heath's Motion For A Mistrial Based On Juror Misconduct**

Heath argues that his right to a fair trial was violated when a Juror 11 "gathered addition evidence" (App. Br. at 7) and "looked up" Heath's custody status and "shared that information with other jurors." App. Br. at 7.<sup>3</sup> He further argues that the jurors "initially lied" about their activities, (*Id.* at 4); that Juror 11 only "reluctantly" acknowledged both that she had found Heath's custody status on line and that she had shared that information with Juror 8. Heath, however, mischaracterizes the record, taking what appears to have been an innocent

---

<sup>3</sup> Elsewhere Heath alleges, without citation to the record, that Juror 11 "shared what she learned with at least one other juror." App. Br. at 3.

mistake followed by a brief remark, and transforming it into an error of such egregious proportions that he was deprived of his right to a fair trial. When the actual record is considered, his argument fails. There was no juror misconduct, and no showing that the jury “considered” any evidence that was not presented in the course of trial. Moreover, even if the jurors’ actions are determined to constitute misconduct, there was no prejudice, and Heath is not entitled to a new trial.

**1. Standard Of Review**

The granting or denial of a new trial is a matter primarily within the discretion of the trial court, and a trial court’s denial of a motion for a new trial will not be reversed on appeal unless there is a clear showing of abuse of discretion. *State v. Pete*, 152 Wn.2d 546, 552, 98 P.3d 803 (2004); *State v. Balisok*, 123 Wn.2d 114, 117-18, 866 P.2d 631 (1994). An abuse of discretion occurs when no reasonable judge would have reached the same conclusion. *Id.*

**2. There Is No Evidence That Any Juror “Lied.”**

Courts are generally reluctant to inquire into how a jury arrives at its verdict. *Balisok*, 123 Wn.2d at 117. There is a long-standing policy in favor of “stable and certain verdicts and the secret, frank and free discussion of the evidence by the jury,” and there must be a “strong, affirmative showing of misconduct” in order to overcome this policy. *Id.*, 123 Wn.2d at 118. It is

misconduct for a jury to consider extrinsic evidence and if it does, that may be a basis for a new trial if the defendant has been prejudiced. *State v. Boling*, 131 Wn. App. 329, 332, 127 P.3d 740 (2006). “Novel or extrinsic evidence is defined as information that is *outside all the evidence* admitted at trial, either orally or by document.” *Balisok*, 123 Wn.2d at 118 (quoting *Richards v. Overlake Hosp. Med. Ctr.*, 59 Wn. App. 266, 270, 796 P.2d 737 (1990)) (emphasis added). If what the jury has done “has the effect of putting them in possession of *material* facts which should have been supported by evidence upon the trial, but which was not offered, this generally constitutes such misconduct as will vitiate the verdict.” *Id.* at 119, citing *State v. Everson*, 166 Wn. 534, 7 P.2d 603, 80 A.L.R. 106 (1932) (emphasis added). The court’s inquiry is an objective one. The question is whether the extrinsic evidence “could have affected the jury’s determinations.” *State v. Caliguri*, 99 Wn.2d 501, 509, 664 P.2d 466 (1983). While litigants are entitled to a fair trial, this does not mean that they are entitled to a perfect one. *In re Detention of Broten*, 130 Wn. App. 326, 336-37, 122 P.3d 942 (2005) (citing *McDonough Power Equip., Inc. v. Greenwood*, 464 U.S. 548, 553, 104 S.Ct. 845, 78 L.Ed.2d 663 (1984)).

Here, Heath has failed to make a “strong, affirmative showing of misconduct” (*State v. Balisok, supra*) in this case. Heath alleges that Juror 11 “looked up” Heath’s custody status. App. Br. at 4. This assertion, however,

misstates the evidence. The matter came to the court's and parties' attention on the morning of the third day of trial<sup>4</sup> by way of a note submitted to the bailiff. 4RP at 319, 324-25. The note, from Juror 9, indicated that:

Oct. 9 at 4:20 PM: We as juroys [sic] were waiting to leave in jury room. A juroy [sic] said "is he incarcerated now?" A couple juroys [sic] said yes. One juroy [sic] was talking to a friend juroy [sic]. She stated I ~~try~~ ~~tried~~ looked to see where he was on the internet. And the other jury said "where is he". She shook her head but I did not hear what she said.

CP at 863. In the course of discussing this note, the trial court pointed out that the jury "know[s] he was incarcerated. That's not a surprise. That has come up a number of times," (4RP at 319-20) and asked Heath's attorneys to identify the possible prejudice. *Id.* at 321. In responding, counsel for Heath did not deny that this information had already come into evidence in a number of ways on a number of occasions. Rather, they emphasized the danger of others on the panel knowing that one of their group had "ratted out" another, and the danger for a "dynamic" among the panel that "has gotten out of control." *Id.* "There's a dynamic that is not part of this case, it's going on as a result of this note all by itself, and it's just not right." *Id.*

The court decided to question each juror individually, and began by questioning Juror 9, who has written the note. Juror 9 indicated she did not know name or juror number of the persons to whom she referred in the note, and that she had not told anyone that she had sent a note to the court. 4RP at

---

<sup>4</sup> Petitioner's Opening Statement was made on October 8.

325. When each of the remaining jurors was questioned, each was asked whether he or she had heard any information about this case or Morgan Heath in the jury room from any other juror, or whether s/he had heard anyone “discuss anything about Internet searches.” *Id.* at 326-331. Jurors 1 through 12 all indicated they had heard nothing about Heath or Internet searches. *Id.*

At some point it appears that the parties and the court, based on the description provided by Juror 9, agreed that Juror 11 was the person alleged to have made the comment about having “looked up” information about Heath on the Internet. 4RP at 344. After argument, the court called Jurors 9 and 11 back for further questioning. The following exchange with Juror 11 occurred:

**Court:** I had some follow-up questions to ask you. Please be seated. The follow-up question is, did you look up anything on any Internet site about Mr. Heath?

**Juror 11:** I use the Kitsap County web site for my job, so I was on that, but no, absolutely not.

**Court:** Did you look up and see who is in custody in the jail?

**Juror 11:** We do that on a daily basis at work anyway.

**Court:** So you did that on this case?

**Juror 11:** I just saw his name on there. That’s all I saw.

**Court:** Did you share with anybody that you had looked that up and seen that on the Internet site?

**Juror 11:** I just said I was on the Kitsap County web site and I use that for work on a daily basis.

**Court:** You told somebody he was incarcerated?

**Juror 11:** I saw his name. That's all I said. I just—we didn't discuss the case. We said nothing. There was no discussion whatsoever.

**Court:** Do you know who you made the statement to that you had looked on the Kitsap County web site? Which juror it was?

**Juror 11:** Um, well, there was somebody that said something. I believe it was—

**Court:** Do you know what they are wearing today?

**Juror 11:** I think it was the pharmacist? I am not sure what number he is.

**Court:** I know who he is.

**Juror 11:** I did not discuss the case at all. I mean, basically we were told not to do that. And I was not on the Internet researching anything. It's just that that's what we do. In my line of work, I am on there all the time for what I do...

**Court:** Where are you employed?

**Juror 11:** State Farm Insurance.

**Court:** Other than who you described as the pharmacist, juror number 8, do you think anyone else heard you talk about that?

**Juror 11:** I don't think so. And it wasn't even a discussion.

**Court:** And, do you think that knowing this information, that his name shows up on that web site,



will have any impact on you being able to fairly hear this case?

**Juror 11:** No, absolutely not. No. I mean, we have clients, because I work for State Farm Insurance, sometimes we—that's where we look for our clients....It would have no bearing for me.

*Id.* at 345-47.

The court next called Juror number 8, “the pharmacist,” back. 4RP at 347. The following exchange occurred:

**Court:** Mr. Whitley, in the jury room yesterday at 4:20, did you hear any of the jurors talk about looking up on the Kitsap County web site, looking up Mr. Heath?

**Juror 8:** No.

**Court:** You didn't hear—Did you hear anybody discuss incarceration.

**Juror 8:** No. Oh, whether or not he was incarcerated?

**Court:** Right.

**Juror 8:** Yeah, somebody said something about they were wondering what—what was it—whether or not he was incarcerated.

**Court:** Did you hear anyone respond to that question?

**Juror 8:** Not that they knew or anything like that. It was something about, I don't know, if he is or whatever type thing.

**Court:** Do you think that would have any impact on you being a juror in this case?

**Juror 8:** No. I guess I would assume most people are incarcerated if they are in this situation.

*Id.* at 347-48.

The court denied Heath's motion for a mistrial, noting that "The fact that Mr. Heath is incarcerated is well known to the panel. It's come in through many different ways, and that he's been incarcerated since February, 2010 has come in also. There were no motions in limine about that, and that's properly before the jury." 4RP at 353-54. Juror 11, the court continued, "was very clear that she just made a remark," and Juror 8 "was pretty much in accord" with Juror 11's representations that there was no further discussion. *Id.*

From this mole hill, consisting solely of an innocent mention of non-material information already extensively discussed at trial, made to a person who appears to have thought little of the remark because it contained information he already assumed to be true, Heath seeks to construct a mountain of prejudice so great it cannot possibly be overcome. This attempt fails.

Heath's argument is premised on various assumptions that are not supported by the record. First, he assumes that the jurors "lied" to the court and counsel. A far more likely explanation for the jurors' answers to the court's initial questions is that both failed to fully grasp the full range of information that the court was attempting to elicit with its questions. When asked whether she heard "any discussions in the jury room about the defendant or about the respondent, Morgan Heath," Juror 11 indicated that

she had not. 4RP at 327. She was then asked whether she had heard “anybody discuss any information obtained from the Internet,” and again, said that she had not. *Id.* When she was later questioned more precisely, she indicated that, while using a website that she used “for work on a daily basis,” she saw, apparently inadvertently, that Heath was at the Kitsap County Jail. *Id.* at 345. She stated that “I just said that I was on the Kitsap County web site and I use that for work on a daily basis,” repeatedly emphasizing that the Kitsap County website is “just...what we use. In my line of work, I am on there all the time for what I do.” *Id.* at 345-46. Nor, she emphasized, was there any “discussion” about that information or Heath. “I saw his name. That’s all I said. I just—we didn’t discuss the case. We said nothing. There was no discussion whatsoever.” *Id.* at 345. She went on: “I did not discuss the case at all. I mean, basically we were told not to do that. And I was not on the Internet researching anything. It’s just that that’s what we use. In my line of work, I am on there all the time for what I do.” *Id.* at 346.

Juror 11, while using a website she used daily for work, happened upon a piece of information about which there has already been extensive testimony at trial—that is, that Heath was currently incarcerated. Mentioning or confirming that fact to another juror would not necessarily, in her mind, come within the ambit of a “discussion” of “information obtained from the Internet.” 4RP at at 326. Likewise, although the term “discussion” may mean

different things to different people<sup>5</sup> (and it was not defined in the instructions), there is no reason to believe that Juror 8 “lied” to the court simply because he did not characterize being given a piece of information he already assumed to be true and about which there was no further conversation as a “discussion” of “information obtained from the Internet.” Such an exchange obviously did not, in either juror’s mind, constitute the sort of behavior that would violate the court’s instructions. To invalidate the result of a lengthy trial “because of a juror’s mistaken, though honest, response to a question, is to insist on something closer to perfection than our judicial system can be expected to give.” *McDonough*, 464 U.S. at 555. Heath’s argument fails.

**3. The Information Conveyed By Juror 11 Was Not “Extrinsic Evidence.”**

Nor was there was nothing “extrinsic” about the information provided by Juror 11. As the trial court correctly pointed out, at the point at which Juror 11 mentioned to Juror 8 that Heath was incarcerated, there had already been repeated references to that fact. In his deposition, portions of which had been played to the jury the day before (3RP at 200-01) Heath had made numerous references to having been incarcerated since February 2010, and to being at the SCC. *See e.g.* CP at 539, 543, 546 & 548 (references to Heath’s

---

<sup>5</sup> The term “discussion” is defined by Webster’s as “consideration of a question in open usu. informal debate.” *Webster’s Third new International Dictionary*. 1981. Springfield, Massachusetts: Merriam-Webster.

being at the SCC), 554 (Q: “You’ve been incarcerated since about February of 2010, correct? A: Yeah.), 569 (incarcerated since February of 2010). Likewise, Ms. Nelson from the Department of Corrections testified that she supervised him from 2007 “until he went to the Special Commitment Center” on the first day of trial. 2RP at 127. Dr. Phenix had, as well, already made abundantly clear that Heath was not free in the community: Her testimony regarding Heath’s risk was presented entirely in terms of his risk “if released” to the community, a discussion that made sense only if one assumed that he was not currently in the community. Dr. Phenix testified that she considered “how could he be safe in the community, should he be released to the community,” and indicated that he had about a year and a half left of parole or community supervision “once he’s released.” 3RP at 311. She concluded by stating, “I don’t think that he is safe to be released to the community.” *Id.* at 312.

The information conveyed by Juror 11 to Juror 8 was neither novel nor extrinsic to the evidence already presented at trial, Heath’s argument fails.

#### **4. The Information Conveyed From Juror 11 to Juror 8 Was Not Material**

Nor was the information conveyed by Juror 11 material to the verdict. Where consideration of extraneous evidence is alleged, the court must make an objective inquiry “into whether the extraneous evidence *could* have

affected the jury's verdict." *Allyn v. Boe*, 87 Wn. App. 722, 729-30, 943 P.2d 364, 369 (1997). Here, there is no possibility that this information could have affected the verdict. Heath could not conceivably be prejudiced in any way by one juror's having mentioned to another a fact already known to both, that is, that Heath was currently incarcerated. Even trial counsel were unable to identify any prejudice to Heath beyond the potential for some jurors to believe another in their midst had "ratted out" another juror (4RP at 321), a concern that would appear to have been alleviated by Juror 9's statement that she did not believe that any other juror knew that she had sent a note to the court. *Id.* at 325. Both jurors 8 and 11 emphasized that this information would not affect their ability to be fair and impartial jurors (*Id.* at 345-48), and Heath has failed to put forth any plausible theory for how it might have conceivably affected their impartiality. Moreover, the court subsequently re-instructed the jury regarding their conduct during the evidentiary phase of the trial, including the need to "keep your mind free of any extraneous influences so you can decide this case based on the evidence produced in the courtroom, the witnesses here in the courtroom, and the law as I give it to you." 4RP at 365. Juries are presumed to follow instructions, including curative instructions. *Lockwood v. AC&S, Inc.*, 44 Wn. App. 330, 358, 722 P.2d 826 (1986). Likewise, the jury was again instructed, prior to deliberations, that "evidence" consisted of testimony and exhibits "admitted, during the trial"

(CP at 871), regarding their duty to consider all of the evidence the court had admitted (CP at 871) and their duty to assure that the parties receive a fair trial. CP at 874. Because juries are presumed to follow instructions of the court they are also presumed to have “disregarded extraneous matters.” *State v. Bourgeois*, 133 Wn.2d 389, 409; 945 P.2d 1120 (1997). His argument fails.

**5. The Court Properly Denied The Motion For Mistrial Based On A Comment Regarding Dr. Phenix**

Heath next argues that the trial court should have granted a mistrial because “jurors expressed their praise for the state’s hired expert...before Mr. Heath had even been allowed to conduct cross examination.” App. Br. at 7. Again, Heath mischaracterizes the evidence.

During the court’s inquiry into Juror 11’s remark about Heath’s incarceration, Juror 13 said that “somebody” was commenting about “Dr. Phenix’s articulating speech.” *Id.* at 332. At the request of the defense, Juror 13 was brought back for further questioning about this incident. The following exchange occurred:

**Court:** Ms. Niemeyer, I want to follow up. You said you heard some sort of comment about Dr. Phenix. What kind of comment was it?

**Juror 13:** Her speech was so articulated. It was just praise. Nothing about the case.

**Court:** It wasn’t about what she was testifying to, but her speech was very articulate?

**Juror 13:** Yes. That was it. Very smart. Very articulate. That was all I heard.

4RP at 355.

Based on this brief exchange, Heath argues that “jurors expressed their praise,” for the State’s expert, thereby violating the instruction that they not discuss the case or evidence before deliberations. App. Br. at 7. Heath cites to absolutely no authority in support of the proposition that a juror’s comment that a particular witness is articulate constitutes misconduct or requires a new trial, nor does he even attempt to formulate an argument as to why or how this prevented him from having a fair trial. This argument should be rejected.

**B. Heath Was Not Entitled To A Unanimity Instruction**

Finally, Heath argues that his right to a unanimous jury was violated because there was neither a unanimity instruction nor a special verdict form requiring that the jury identify the precise basis for commitment—that is, whether he was likely to reoffend based on a personality disorder or a mental abnormality. App. Br. at While he concedes that no such instruction is required where there is substantial evidence to support either condition, he argues that no such substantial evidence was offered in his case, and as such reversal is required. His argument fails. The State presented substantial evidence of both a mental abnormality and a personality disorder that, acting together, resulted in



his having serious difficulty controlling his sexually violent behavior and made him likely to reoffend. As such, no unanimity instruction was required.

Heath asserts that he was deprived of his rights to due process because the court did not give a unanimity instruction requiring the jury to determine which of his disorders made him likely to reoffend. App. Br. at 8. Heath does not contest the fact that there was sufficient evidence in the record to support the conclusion that he suffers from both a mental abnormality and a personality disorder. He argues, however, that “there must be sufficient evidence to permit a juror to conclude the personality disorders, by themselves, make Mr. Heath more likely than not to reoffend.” App. Br. at 12.

Heath cites no authority for this proposition, nor is there any. Indeed, the courts reached the opposite conclusion: Where there is testimony at trial to the effect that the offender suffers from both a mental abnormality and a personality disorder, and where substantial evidence supports each, these two conditions “are alternative means for making the SVP determination.” *In re Halgren*, 156 Wn.2d 795, 810, 132 P.3d 714 (2006). “To force the State to elect or the jury to rely on only one...would unnecessarily introduce a requirement that is not present in the statute. It would also compromise the value of the clinical judgments of expert witnesses in this difficult area. Neither the constitution nor the statute requires this.” *In re Halgren* 124 Wn. App. 206, 215, 98 P.3d 1206 (2004). Affirming the Court of Appeals’

decision on this issue, the Supreme Court noted that, “because both mental illnesses are predicates for the SVP determination, the two mental illnesses are closely connected...” and that “these two means of establishing that a person is an SVP may operate independently or may work in conjunction.” *Halgren*, 156 Wn.2d at 810.

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